RECEIVED

MAY 30 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 5524 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Nov. 22, 2017)
Appellate Case No. 2018-000235

Wadette Cothran and Chris Cothran,.....Petitioners,

v.

State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company
and Robert Tucker, of whom State Farm Mutual Automobile
Insurance Company is theRespondent.

BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

Logan Rollins
P.O. Box 5048
Spartanburg, SC 29304
Telephone: 864-574-8801
ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONERS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Whether the Court of Appeals erred in holding that State Farm could enforce policy language that would reduce the amount of available personal injury protection (“PIP”) coverage by the amount of workers’ compensation benefits Petitioner Wadette Cothran received when S.C. Code Ann. Section 38-77-144 states that PIP “shall not be assigned or subrogated and is not subject to a setoff.”

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Complaint in this case was filed April 17, 2015 in the Spartanburg County Court of Common Pleas. Petitioners claimed State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company ("State Farm") breached its insurance contract and duties of good faith and fair dealing by not paying to Petitioners the full amount of the State Farm personal injury protection ("PIP") policy when it was not contested that Petitioner Wadette Cothran’s medical bills and lost wages exceeded the full amount of the State Farm PIP coverage available. State Farm contended that its policy made PIP benefits “excess” to workers’ compensation benefits and therefore denied payment of \$4,009 of the \$5,000 PIP policy after paying \$991 for some of Mrs. Cothran’s lost wages. (App. p. 28-29).

On November 17, 2015, Judge L. Casey Manning granted Petitioners’ Motion for Summary Judgment for their breach of contract claim and denied State Farm's Motion for Summary Judgment for Petitioners’ breach of contract claim. (App. pp. 3-16). State Farm subsequently filed a Motion to Reconsider, which was denied by an order of January 26,

2016 without oral argument (App. p. 17). State Farm filed its Notice of Appeal on February 5, 2016. The Court of Appeals reversed the circuit court, without conducting oral argument, in its opinion filed on November 22, 2017 (App. pp. 212-222). The Court of Appeals denied rehearing in an order indicating it believed there was no basis for rehearing (App. p. 227).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

By virtue of the parties' stipulation, there are no material facts in dispute regarding the issue before this Court, and the parties agree that the only question before this Court is one of law. (App. pp. 28-29). For the purposes of the legal determination, the stipulated facts are that Petitioner Wadette Cothran was involved in a work-related motor vehicle accident in which her medical expenses were paid by her employer's workers' compensation insurance carrier. Mrs. Cothran's personal State Farm automobile insurance policy provided \$5,000.00 in PIP coverage. (App. p. 28). State Farm denied payment of medical expenses that had already been paid by Mrs. Cothran's employer's workers' compensation carrier based on its policy provision stating personal injury protection was "excess over any benefits recovered under any workers' compensation law or any other similar law." (App. p. 28).

The sole issue before the circuit court was whether this provision constituted a "set off" that was prohibited by S.C. Code § 38-77-144. (App. p. 29).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Under South Carolina law, "[w]hen the purpose of the underlying dispute is to determine whether coverage exists under insurance policy, the action is one at law." *S.C.*

Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. v. Kennedy, 398 S.C. 604, 610, 730, S.E.2d. 862, 864 (2012). (Citation omitted). Furthermore, an "appellate court may review application of legal doctrine to undisputed facts" without the "usual deference" given to lower courts. *J. K. Const., Inc. v. Western Carolina Regional Sewer Authority*, 336 S.C. 162, 166-67, 519 S.E.2d. 561, 564 (year). (Citations omitted).

ARGUMENT

State Farm insures Wadette Cothran for PIP benefits that it will not owe to her if its policy provision purporting to make those benefits excess to workers' compensation benefits received by Ms. Cothran is enforceable. State Farm alleges that it is not required to pay its benefits because it has a policy provision that states, "Any Personal Injury Protection Coverage provided by this policy applies as excess over any benefits recovered under any workers' compensation law or any other similar law." (App. p. 42). The PIP statute, South Carolina Code Section 38-77-144, states, in its entirety:

There is no personal injury protection (PIP) coverage mandated under the automobile insurance laws of this State. Any reference to personal injury protection in Title 38 or 56 or elsewhere is deleted. If an insurer sells no-fault insurance coverage which provides personal injury protection, medical payment coverage, or economic loss coverage, the coverage shall not be assigned or subrogated and is not subject to a setoff.

I. The Court of Appeals Erred in Holding that Richardson Abrogated the Plain Meaning of Section 38-77-144.

A. Richardson is Inapplicable.

In *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Richardson*, 313 S.C. 58, 437 S.E.2d 43 (1993),

the insured sought to recover the PIP limits of more than one PIP policy she had with State Farm. State Farm alleged she was not entitled to stack her coverages, and State Farm *denied that the issue of a set off was before the Court*. Instead, in *Richardson*, State Farm “contend[ed] that its policy comprise[d] an anti-stacking clause *rather than a set-off*.” *Id.* at 60, 44. (Emphasis Added). The policy provision at issue in *Richardson* was not the set off, or “excess,” provision at issue in this case, but one stating that “the total limits of liability under all such policies shall not exceed that of the policy with the highest limit of liability.” *Id.* at 58, 44. Hence, the issue before the Court in *Richardson* was not under what circumstances a PIP carrier had an obligation to pay benefits, but merely how much PIP coverage was available when an insured had multiple PIP policies.

Richardson reaffirmed longstanding South Carolina precedent when it held a carrier “may prohibit the **stacking** of non-mandatory coverage.” *Richardson* at 61, 45 (Emphasis added). Because the PIP statute prohibits subrogation, assignment, and set off but does not prohibit a restriction of stacking, *Richardson* correctly held that the carrier could prohibit stacking of PIP policies. *See, eg., Ruppe v. Auto. Owners Ins. Co.*, 329 S.C. 402, 406, 496 S.E. 2d 631, 633 (1998) (holding coverage that is “not statutorily required” may lawfully be precluded from stacking by the terms of an insurance policy because parties are free to choose the terms of coverage that is “not governed by statute,” and “[t]he guiding principle to be gleaned from our current stacking law is that stacking may be prohibited by contract if such a prohibition is consistent with statutory insurance requirements.”) (Internal

citations and quotations omitted).

To extrapolate from *Richardson*'s limited holding related to the single issue before the *Richardson* Court—stacking of non-mandatory coverage—to the broad theory that a PIP carrier can allege a setoff for any collateral recovery an insured receives is beyond the scope of the *Richardson* opinion. Such a holding also is not supported by the other precedent cited by the Court of Appeals.

B. The Court Erred in Holding that Other Cases Support its Interpretation of *Richardson*.

The Court of Appeals held the State Farm provision was enforceable because “section 38-77-144 applies only to prevent tortfeasors from reducing their liability by the amount of PIP benefits.” (App. p. 215). According to the Court of Appeals, although the policy provision at issue is a set off, the statutory statement “not subject to a setoff” applies in only a single circumstance—it *only* prohibits a *tortfeasor* from alleging a set off after PIP benefits have been paid. That is, the Court of Appeals interprets “not subject to a setoff” to mean two things. First, any entity other than a tortfeasor may, under any circumstance, allege a set off against PIP benefits a PIP insured has received. Second, and more significantly, a PIP carrier may allege a set off *under any circumstance, without limitation*. This interpretation of *Richardson* is based on post-*Richardson* cases that cite *Richardson*.

The Court of Appeals supports its aforementioned conclusion in stating that, “although *Richardson* involved an anti-stacking provision, its holding was not limited or

restricted only to stacking related provisions.” (App. p. 227). The Court’s holding that the PIP statute prevents only a reduction of “tortfeasor” liability requires the unstated holding that the State Farm provision at issue does, in fact, constitute a set off; *i.e.*, it is only because *Richardson* contains the term “set off” that the Court of Appeals found that it was applicable to the instant case. The court’s tacit holding that the policy provision at issue is, in fact, a set off is demonstrated by the primary case upon which its interpretation of *Richardson* rests: *Rowzie v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 556 F.3d 165 (4th Cir. 2009). In *Rowzie*, a Fourth Circuit opinion, the insured’s carrier paid its PIP policy limits. Subsequently, the same carrier alleged it was entitled to reduce its underinsured motorist (“UIM”) payment to the extent that it had previously made PIP payments.

The Court of Appeals erred in relying on *Rowzie*’s interpretation of *Richardson* for at least two reasons.

First, in *Rowzie*, the carrier *had already paid its PIP limits*, and *Rowzie* permits a “set off” under the same policy’s UIM provision. If both a UIM set off is permissible per *Rowzie* and a PIP set off is also permissible, State Farm gets a “double reduction.” That is, State Farm may assign a UIM claims adjuster who will allege a UIM set off based on the existence of State Farm PIP, and it may simultaneously assign a PIP claims adjuster to allege a set off based on the existence of UIM. Thus, State Farm is able to reduce payments under *both* the UIM and PIP provisions of its insured’s policy.

Second, the primary case upon which *Rowzie* relied for its reasoning has been

overruled. *Rowzie* held a UIM carrier could allege a set off against PIP benefits it had previously paid “[b]ecause [UIM] coverage is not mandatory,” and this was predicated upon the decision of the Court of Appeals in *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Calcutt*, 340 S.C. 231, 530 S.E.2d 896 (Ct. App. 2000) and its distinction between voluntarily coverage and mandatory coverage. Although *Calcutt* did hold that a set off of any non-mandatory coverage (in *Calcutt*, UIM coverage) was permissible, this holding from *Calcutt* was expressly overturned by this Court in *Sweetser v. S.C. Dept. of Ins. Reserve Fund*, 390 S.C. 632, 703 S.E.2d 509, FN 4 (2010). *Sweetser* determined that the reference to “voluntary coverage is not to UIM coverage, but rather to the employer’s voluntary decision to purchase bodily injury coverage” and held that the dispositive issue regarding whether a UIM carrier could claim a set off was whether the employer purchased the coverage (in which case it could allege a set off as allowed by S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-220) or the employee purchased the coverage (in which case the UIM carrier could not allege a set off). *Sweetser* at 635, 510. This Court has, therefore, rightly overturned *Calcutt*’s “voluntary coverage” analysis. *Rowzie*’s holding was drawn from that overturned rule and is no longer valid.

And even if *Rowzie* did articulate the correct analysis, it must be noted that *Rowzie* dealt with a single insurance carrier limiting its payments based exclusively upon the terms of multiple coverages under the same insurance contract. That is, the insurer and insured agreed to cap Allstate’s maximum exposure within the terms of the contract between Allstate and its insured. The insured could review the policy and, arguably, know the

maximum benefit she could receive under the terms of the policy. The policy did not allow Allstate to simply deny coverage pending some potential third party's payment. The only question in *Rowzie* was which Allstate "pocket" (*i.e.*, UIM or PIP) the payment made to the insured came from. There was no question that Allstate's insured was entitled to collect the entirety of the policy limits she purchased; the only question was determining the actual amount of the policy limits that had been purchased.

The case at bar is materially different. Here, State Farm alleges it can withhold payment of its PIP coverage altogether based on the potential liability of an entity that is not a party to State Farm's insurance contract with Ms. Cothran. State Farm concedes the amount of the policy limit (\$5,000), but it alleges it may withhold payment of most of that coverage based on a set off it alleges for third party coverage. This reverses the procedure employed in *Rowzie*. In *Rowzie*, the PIP "pocket" of Allstate had already paid its limits, and the UIM "pocket" of Allstate alleged the set off under the theory that the policy limits of the policy it had sold its insured had an aggregate maximum limit that was constituted by the combination of UIM and PIP coverage. The Fourth Circuit analyzed the case as though the insured had recovered the full policy limits she had purchased and was attempting to force her carrier to pay her more money than the amount of coverage than she had elected to purchase and more money than the amount of her damages.

Here, it is conceded that Ms. Cothran has not collected the full PIP policy limits she purchased. The payment of those limits was denied based not on the amount of

damages she has sustained but based only on the existence of third party workers' compensation coverage—a source wholly independent of the State Farm's contractual relationship with Ms. Cothran. If *Rowzie* were still valid, following its holding would require PIP funds to be distributed first and then UIM funds would be set off; therefore, it would be State Farm, as PIP carrier, that would make the first payment, and State Farm, as UIM carrier, would subsequently allege the set off.

In addition to *Rowzie*, the Court of Appeals noted that *Mount v. Sea Pines*, 337 S.C. 355, 359, 523 S.E. 2d 464, 465 (Ct. App. 1999) was “instructive” to the extent it stood for the proposition that the “application” of *Richardson* outside of a stacking context was possible. In *Mount*, the plaintiff was injured and collected from the insurer of “property owned by Sea Pines [. . .]” *Id.* at 356,464. The issue in the case was whether the collateral source rule prevented the tortfeasor (i.e., the liability insurance carrier) from alleging a set off for benefits that had been paid under the no-fault coverage insuring the same property. Significantly, the insurance at issue was for “property.” It was *not* automobile insurance—and hence the statute at issue in the case at bar was entirely inapplicable. The plaintiff did not allege that *Richardson* or the automobile PIP statute applied; instead, she merely “compare[d] her situation to that of a passenger injured in an automobile driven by its owner” as persuasive evidence that the collateral source rule should apply so as to prohibit set off. *Id.* at 357, 465. The court noted that the anti- set off provision “only applied to automobile insurance.” *Id.* at 358, 465. The court further noted that the rationale for the

PIP statute and *Richardson* was that the statute “prevented the tortfeasor from profiting in the case where the injured party received PIP benefits.” Accordingly, *Mount* cited *Richardson* for the proposition that one policy rationale behind the Legislature’s reform of South Carolina PIP law was to prevent a tortfeasor from receiving a windfall because of the existence of PIP coverage.

Overlooked by the court, and more significant, in *Mount*, as in *Rowzie*, the injured party had already “received benefits” from the PIP policy. It was the liability carrier (i.e., the “tortfeasor,” in the language of *Richardson*) that was receiving the set off. *Mount* did not allow the PIP carrier to allege a set off. *Mount* presupposes that, under any circumstance, the injured party would have already “received benefits” from the PIP carrier, and it would be a third party to the PIP Insurer— PIP Insured relationship that would allege a set off based on the prior PIP payment that had been made. In short, because the PIP statute applies only to automobile policies, the “tortfeasor setoff” still exists for policies insuring property, and the set off has always been alleged because the PIP carrier has made a payment—not by the PIP carrier because another entity may have a responsibility to make a payment. In sum, it is *because* a PIP carrier has made a payment that the set off exists.

II. Under Pre-Reform PIP Law, an Exclusive List of Exceptions to a PIP Carrier’s Duty to Pay Existed, and the Purpose of the 1989 Legislative Changes that Eliminated Set Offs Was to Reform the Former Law to the Benefit of the Injured Claimant.

A. The “Excess” Provision of the State Farm Policy Is A Set Off.

South Carolina law makes clear that denominating first party automobile coverage as “excess” to another policy of a different statutorily classified coverage is, by definition, a set off. The form of coverage that is probably closest in kind to PIP coverage (i.e., another form of first party, automobile coverage) is UIM coverage. UIM is defined, under S.C. Code. Ann. Section 38-77-160, “to provide coverage in the event that damages are sustained *in excess of the liability limits* carried by an at-fault insured or underinsured motorist.” As this Court held in *Broome v. Watts*, 319 S.C. 337, 341, 461 S.E. 2d 46, 48 (1995) this “excess” denomination constitutes a setoff: “The very definition of UIM insurance mandates *a set-off*.” (Emphasis Added).

More importantly, the credit claimed in connection with PIP coverage itself has been called a set off. This Court formerly determined that the credit claimed by the liability insurance company for the money paid by the PIP insurance company was, by definition, a set off (“We termed this tortfeasor liability reduction [after the PIP carrier has paid its PIP coverage] a ‘set-off’ in *Moultrie v. North River Ins. Co., Inc.*, 272 S.C 53, 249 S.E.2d 158 (1978).” *Richardson*, 313 SC 58, 437 SE.2d 43 (1993). That is, if the credit alleged by a third-party carrier against PIP coverage is, by definition, a set off, then then the credit alleged by the PIP carrier against third party coverage must also be termed a set off.

Moultrie noted, in fact, that the PIP carrier’s assertion that it could claim credit for liability payment was a “set-off” that was invalid because the statute “only requires *a set-off* by those persons who have already received benefits from their own carrier” and not by

the PIP carrier who sought a setoff for the payment of insurance proceeds that exist outside of the first party PIP insurer-insured relationship. *Moultrie* at 56, 159. (Emphasis added).

B. Allowable PIP Set Offs Have Historically Been Statutorily Denominated.

Under pre-reform PIP law, which was repealed by Act 148 of 1989, the former S.C. Code Section 56-11-150 (later recodified as Section 38-77-290(d))¹, provided an “*exclusive list* of exceptions from the duty of a PIP insurer to pay benefits.” *Benat v. State Farm Mut. Ins. Co.*, 286 S.C. 132, 133, 333 S.E.2d 57, 58 (Ct. App. 1985) (Emphasis added). In *Benat*, State Farm alleged it should receive a set off because the claimant had received wages from a collateral source, but *Benat* determined State Farm’s contract provided “less coverage than required by law” because the then-current PIP statute did not specifically denominate a set off for wages paid by a “collateral source” to the PIP Insurer-PIP insured relationship. *Benat* at 133-34, 58. The court held that the State Farm policy at issue, therefore, must be reformed to provide coverage because then-current PIP law prohibited recovery from “both PIP and Workers’ Compensation, but is silent as to other collateral sources” and because the court had “no legislative authority,” it could not “vary a statutory scheme [. . .] no matter how logical the basis of the variance.” (Citation omitted). As noted in *Richardson*, Act 148 of 1989 repealed mandatory PIP coverage and made it optional, and these “sweeping reforms

¹ See Maybank et al., *The Law of Automobile Insurance in South Carolina*, 5th Ed., V-19 (2002).

in automobile insurance law” specifically included a repeal of “Section 38-77-290 [formerly the Section 56-11-150 referred to in *Benat*].” *Richardson* at 62, 45.

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