THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

JUL 19 2018

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2015-CP-42-1578  
Appellate Case No. 2018-000235

WADETTE COTHRAN and CHRIS COTHRAN, ..... Petitioners,

v.

STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE  
INSURANCE COMPANY and ROBERT TUCKER,  
Defendants,

Of which State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance  
Company is the ..... Respondent.

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

Charles R. Norris  
Robert W. Whelan  
C. Mitchell Brown  
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP  
151 Meeting Street / Sixth Floor  
Charleston, SC 29401  
(843) 853-5200

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Should the Court change its interpretation of the meaning of the phrase “not subject to setoff” in South Carolina Code § 38-77-144, set forth in *State Farm v. Richardson* in 1993, which has been relied upon ever since by other courts, insurers, the public, and the General Assembly?
- II. Does South Carolina Code § 38-77-144 invalidate an insurance policy provision stating that PIP insurance is excess over workers’ compensation insurance?
- III. Do the Plaintiffs’ arguments regarding public policy, alleged illusory coverage, and alleged other controlling authorities support overturning the Court of Appeals?

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The Court should not change its longstanding interpretation of the meaning of the phrase “not subject to setoff” in South Carolina Code § 38-77-144, which interpretation was set forth in this Court’s decision in *State Farm v. Richardson*.**

The parties have stipulated that the sole issue in the case is whether the excess provision in the PIP policy at issue violates section 38-77-144's statement that PIP is “not subject to setoff.” Resolving that issue depends on the meaning of the phrase “not subject to setoff” as used in section 144. This Court long ago decided, in *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Richardson*, exactly what this phrase meant. 313 S.C. 58, 437 S.E.2d 43 (1993). The Court now should not revisit this decided question and opine that the statute meant something different, as there have been no intervening facts or law changes warranting such a re-visitation, and for the reasons set forth below. Notably, the Plaintiffs do not ask this Court to overturn *Richardson*, and they have not filed any motion to argue against precedent. In fact, they argue that *Richardson* was correctly decided but should be limited to cases involving stacking.<sup>1</sup> (Pls.’ Br. 4 “...*Richardson* correctly held that the carrier could prohibit stacking of PIP policies.”)

In 1993 in *Richardson*, an insured argued that a PIP anti-stacking policy provision violated section 144—specifically, the “not subject to setoff” language of the statute. This Court examined section 144 and its legislative history to determine the meaning of the phrase. After that examination and analysis, this Court in *Richardson* determined the Legislature intended the phrase to have a single meaning—the phrase referred to a prohibition on a *tortfeasor's* right to setoff a plaintiff's PIP benefits against a verdict against a tortfeasor. This Court unanimously “found that the Legislature intended the set-off prohibition of section [144] to apply *only to*” a tortfeasor's

---

<sup>1</sup> *Richardson* is not distinguishable because the central issue in that case was the same as the issue in this one—what did the Legislature mean by the phrase “not subject to setoff” in section 144.

setoff of a plaintiff's PIP benefits from a verdict against the tortfeasor. *Richardson*, 313 S.C. at 61, 437 S.E.2d at 45 (emphasis added). The Court noted that "a Conference Committee report adopted by both Houses of the General Assembly just before [the bill] was passed" stated that PIP "may NOT be assigned or subrogated and may not be setoff [from the tortfeasor's liability coverage.] (Bracketed material in original)." *Richardson*, 313 S.C. at 61 n.2, 437 S.E.2d at 45 n.2. Because this case turns on the interpretation of the word "setoff" in section 144 and because *Richardson* has already determined the legislative intent behind that word, the Court of Appeals should be affirmed.

**A. *Richardson's* interpretation of Legislative intent is "permanently settled" absent Legislative action and should not be overturned.**

This Court's role in the interpretation of statutes is extremely important, and this Court has a symbiotic relationship with the General Assembly concerning legislation and its meaning. "It is manifestly in the public interest that the law remain permanently settled. This is especially so in the construction of statutes, for if any change in the statutory law is desired, the General Assembly may readily accomplish it." *Wehle v. S. Carolina Ret. Sys.*, 363 S.C. 394, 402, 611 S.E.2d 240, 244 (2005) (quoting *Powers v. Powers*, 239 S.C. 423, 427, 123 S.E.2d 646, 647 (1962)). As a result, the South Carolina Supreme Court should interpret legislative intent only once—if the interpretation is incorrect, it is the General Assembly's job to correct it. "Legislative intent, *once determined, is 'permanently settled'* absent subsequent action by the General Assembly to effect a change in the statutory law." *Id.* at 403, 611 S.E.2d at 244 (emphasis added).

This process—the interpretation of legislative intent by this Court, and the correction (or not) of that interpretation by the General Assembly—has long been the law of the state.<sup>2</sup> It is well

---

<sup>2</sup> It is also the law in the federal system, as the United States Supreme Court has often noted that the doctrine of stare decisis has "special force" when a case has determined legislative intent

settled that the General Assembly is presumed to be aware of this Court’s interpretation of its statutes. *See, e.g., Sims v. Amisub of South Carolina, Inc.*, 414 S.C. 109, 117, 777 S.E.2d 379, 383 (2015). This Court and the public expect the General Assembly to act if it disagrees with the Court’s interpretation. Indeed, this Court recently noted such. *See Machin v. Carus*, 419 S.C. 527, 547, 799 S.E.2d 468, 478 (2017) (“We trust that the General Assembly will respond to this opinion if it disagrees with our interpretation of the statutes.”).

Further, after the Court has interpreted a statute and the General Assembly does not act to alter that interpretation, it is presumed that the Court’s interpretation of legislative intent was correct, and that interpretation, being permanently settled, should not be altered. The passage of time only further cements this principle. *See Sims*, at 117, 777 S.E.2d at 383 (noting that “in the more than twenty years since the Court’s decision in *Langley*, the Legislature has taken no action to alter [the statute at issue].”).

Twenty-five sessions of the South Carolina Legislature—which were each presumed to be aware of *Richardson’s* interpretation of section 144—have declined to alter that interpretation. To the contrary, eighteen years ago, the General Assembly re-codified the subject section, changing a “must” to a “shall” but not altering the six words interpreted by *Richardson* and at issue in this case. This re-codification is presumed to be an adoption of *Richardson’s* interpretation of the statute. *See Layton v. Flowers*, 243 S.C. 421, 424, 134 S.E.2d 247, 247-48 (1964).

Because this Court has already established the legislative intent concerning the meaning of “not subject to setoff” in section 38-77-144, because the General Assembly has not altered that interpretation in twenty-five years, and because the General Assembly implicitly adopted

---

because “Congress remains free to alter what we have done.” *Patterson v. McLean Credit Union*, 491 U.S. 164, 172–173 (1989).

*Richardson*'s interpretation when re-codifying the statute, this Court should not alter *Richardson*'s interpretation of the statute. The General Assembly remains the proper body to address whether to mandate PIP coverage for expenses also covered by workers' compensation.

**B. Reliance interests also militate against overturning *Richardson*. Indeed, stare decisis concerns are “at their acme” because *Richardson* concerned a question of contractual rights in addition to the interpretation of legislative intent.**

Overturning *Richardson* would be inappropriate in part because of the reliance by the public on its interpretation for twenty-five years.

Stare decisis is intended to insure that people are guided in their personal and business dealings by prior court decisions, through established and fixed principles they announce. It reflects a policy judgment that in most matters it is more important that the applicable rule of law be settled than that it be settled right.

20 Am. Jur. 2d *Courts* § 125 (2015) (citing *Agostini v. Felton*, 521 U.S. 203 (1997)). The public has the right to (1) rely upon the Court's interpretation of a statute, and (2) to seek redress through the General Assembly and the elective process where the statute or its interpretation is considered by that body to be in error. But were the interpretation of the same statutory language to change from court to court and from case to case, the public would rely upon such interpretations of the statutes at its peril.

These principles are particularly important in cases involving contractual rights because private citizens and businesses rely upon the application of established precedent. “The doctrine of stare decisis permits society to presume that bedrock principles are founded in the law rather than in the proclivities of individuals, and thereby contributes to the integrity of our constitutional system of government.” 20 Am. Jur. 2d *Courts* § 125 (2015). Concerns of stare decisis are at their acme in cases involving contract and property rights. *Michigan v. Bay Mills Indian Cmty.*, 134 S. Ct. 2024, 2036 (2014) (noting that Indian tribes “as well as entities and individuals doing business

with them, have for many years relied on [the subject precedent] negotiating their contracts and structuring their transactions against a backdrop of tribal immunity.”).

For twenty-five years the insurance industry, business community, consumers, and regulatory authorities have relied upon this Court’s interpretation of the statutory phrase at issue in *Richardson*. Individuals, insurance companies, and other businesses have written and agreed to contracts of insurance; made, adjusted and accepted claims; set and adjusted reserves; allocated and evaluated risk, and set pricing and premiums based on *Richardson*’s interpretation of section 38-77-144. To overrule *Richardson* would be to fundamentally change the basis on which these actions were undertaken.

Finally, as noted by the Court of Appeals, it as well as a federal court have expressly relied on *Richardson* in the past in adjudicating disputes. This Court should thus not revisit *Richardson*.

**C. *Richardson* was correctly decided.**

Even putting aside the fact that twenty-five sessions of the South Carolina Legislature have agreed with *Richardson*’s interpretation of section 144, review of the state of the PIP law in 1989 shows that *Richardson*’s interpretation was correct. Pre-1989 confusion concerning the availability of a tortfeasor’s PIP setoff provides proper context for the legislative intent as determined by *Richardson*.

Secondary sources reveal that the 1989 Act eliminating mandatory PIP was in response to "public outcry over high automobile insurance rates." Burnet R. Maybank, III et al., *The Law of Automobile Insurance in South Carolina* V-25 (5th ed. 2002).<sup>3</sup> It was noted that PIP "had the worse

---

<sup>3</sup> This pleading cites the 5<sup>th</sup> Edition of the treatise as that is the edition cited by the circuit court and by the Plaintiffs’ brief. The 6<sup>th</sup> Edition was substantively the same. The 7<sup>th</sup> Edition, published in 2015, omitted the historical discussion of this topic.

[sic] loss ratio of any first or third party automobile insurance coverage in South Carolina" and the "abolishment of statutory PIP coverage was one of the Legislature's "major savings items." *Id.* In other words, the Legislature's intent in 1989 was to decrease the amount of PIP insurance sold in the state, not to *increase* the coverage required.

Additionally, confusion over the existence of a tortfeasor's ability to set off PIP benefits prior to the 1989 Act explains the Legislature's decision to prohibit that setoff in section 144. *The Law of Automobile Insurance* explains that before the 1989 repeal of mandatory PIP, there was confusion over whether the Legislature intended for a tortfeasor to receive a setoff.<sup>4</sup> Due to the repeal of another section of the PIP code in 1978 "it was assumed the Legislature wished to do away with all right of set-off." *Id.*, p. V-17. However, to what extent the right to setoff survived the 1978 amendment "was the subject of considerable debate." *Id.*, p. V-18. *See also* 1981 S.C. Op. Atty. Gen. 54 (noting "some ambiguity has arisen with respect to" whether the Legislature intended to eliminate a tortfeasor's right to setoff in the 1978 amendments to the PIP statute). Significantly, these secondary sources referred to the concept of reducing the tortfeasor's liability by the amount of PIP benefits as the "setoff provision." *See* Joseph F. Anderson Jr., *The South Carolina Insurance Reform Act Part I): No Fault and Contributory Negligence—A Synopsis and Appraisal*, 26 S.C. L. Rev., 715-23 (1975). It was this "confusion," "debate," and "ambiguity"—over whether a tortfeasor could setoff PIP benefits at trial—that the Legislature sought to resolve when it explicitly prohibited setoff in section 144.

---

<sup>4</sup> It appears that the application of the statute allowing a tortfeasor's setoff of PIP was confusing and controversial from mandatory PIP's 1974 inception. *See* Joseph F. Anderson Jr. *The South Carolina Insurance Reform Act Part I): No Fault and Contributory Negligence—A Synopsis and Appraisal*, 26 S.C. L. Rev. 705, 720-21 (1975) (noting, for example, confusion and ambiguity over whether a tortfeasor's setoff was allowed for PIP coverage in excess of \$1,000).

This is consistent with a Conference Committee report adopted by both Houses of the General Assembly just before Act 148 was passed which stated: "If a (sic) insurer does voluntarily sell PIP coverage . . . it may NOT be assigned or subrogated and may not be setoff [from the tortfeasor's liability coverage.]" *Richardson*, 313 S.C. at 61 n.2, 437 S.E.2d at 45 n.2 (bracketed material in original). These considerations would have been even more apparent to a Court sitting twenty-five years ago and just four years after the enactment of section 144 when it interpreted the legislative intent. This Court should therefore not attempt to now revisit the same phrase in the statute and ascribe to it a different meaning, which would overturn *Richardson's* determination of legislative intent. *Richardson* was correctly decided and, as set forth above, its interpretation of the statutory language at issue should not be changed except by the General Assembly.

**II. Section 38-77-144 does not invalidate an excess provision stating that PIP is excess over workers' compensation insurance.**

**A. The Plaintiffs are incorrect in construing the subject excess provision as a "setoff."**

**1. The subject policy provision is an excess clause, not a setoff.**

In any event, notwithstanding the above, the subject policy provision providing that PIP is "excess" over workers' compensation benefits is an *excess clause*, not a setoff. An excess clause is "[a]n insurance-policy provision...that limits the insurer's liability to the amount exceeding other available coverage. This clause essentially requires other insurers to pay first." *Excess Clause*, Black's Law Dictionary (7th ed. 2014). A policy that contains an excess clause "effectively operates as an excess policy if other insurance is available." *Horace Mann Ins. Co. v. General Star Nat. Ins. Co.*, 514 F.3d 327, 330 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2008) (emphasis in original). Here, it is important to note that there is no third party tortfeasor trying to obtain a benefit involved under the stipulated facts. Further, all of Mrs. Cothran's medical bills have been paid in full and she has received the full PIP

payment due for lost wages not covered by workers' compensation. The Plaintiffs have lost nothing except, under their theory, some supposed right to a double recovery.

**2. To construe excess clauses as illegal “setoffs” would lead to the absurd result of making it illegal to insure PIP on an excess basis and *mandating* multiple recoveries for the same injuries.**

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